UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-10-2014

American Bank v. BRN Development, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40625

III. Statement of the Case

A. Nature of the Case

BRN Development, Inc. ("BRN") appeals the Trial Court's verdict for Taylor Engineering, Inc. ("Taylor") and asks that this Court reverse and remand with instructions to enter judgment for BRN and fix damages in the amount of \$7,112,046.64 plus attorney's fees and costs. Taylor is a professional engineering and land planning firm BRN retained to provide those services for a golf course and residential development in Kootenai County known as Black Rock North (the "Project"). BRN alleged that Taylor provided negligent services and advice concerning the Project's land use entitlements. Specifically, BRN alleged that Taylor was negligent in 2007-2009 when, in the course of winding the Project down, Taylor advised BRN that it had to record its 56 lot final plat in order to vest the Project's Planned Unit Development ("PUD"). In reliance on Taylor's advice, BRN unnecessarily spent more than \$7 million. The Trial Court concluded that BRN's damages were barred by the economic loss rule. BRN contends that the Trial Court should have applied the special relationship exception because Taylor is a professional engineering firm whose services were negligently rendered.

B. Course of Proceedings

The Trial Court bifurcated the dispute between BRN and Taylor from numerous other disputes arising from the Project involving American Bank, Wadsworth Golf Construction

Company, et al.¹ Taylor's cross claims against BRN were resolved and dismissed before trial. The Trial Court's Decision inaccurately states that "BRN seeks to offset the amount owed based upon a remaining claim for professional negligence." (R. Vol. 7, p. 3787 (3777), Decision on Court Trial). In fact, Taylor dismissed its claim for nonpayment of services in exchange for BRN dismissing a claim of negligence distinct from the issues ultimately tried.

BRN and Taylor each moved for summary judgment regarding Taylor's economic loss rule defense. The Trial Court denied both parties' motions. Thus, a seven day bench trial went forward on BRN's claim for damages arising from Taylor's alleged professional negligence. In a written verdict, the Trial Court applied the economic loss rule to conclude that Taylor owed no duty to prevent BRN's economic loss. The Trial Court refused to apply the special relationship exception to the economic loss rule, which applies where, as here, a professional or quasi professional performs personal services, or where, also as here, an entity holds itself out has having expertise to perform a specialized function and knowingly induces reliance on performance of that function. The verdict being in error, BRN appeals.

C. Statement of Facts

1. Background Facts

Marshall Chesrown was BRN's CEO. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 71 ln. 22-24). However, by the time of trial, Mr. Chesrown had no further ownership interest in BRN. (Tr. Vol 1, p. 72 ln. 6-8). Mr. Chesrown grew up in the Spokane area (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 72 ln. 12) and had a successful career

¹ The Trial Court's judgment in the American Bank v. Wadsworth et al. case was recently reversed by the Idaho Supreme Court. *See* Docket No. 39415, 2013 Opinion No. 89, Filed August 16, 2013.

managing and eventually owning car dealerships (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 72 ln. 23-p. 73 ln. 21). After his career in the car business, Mr. Chesrown purchased property above Lake Coeur d'Alene with plans to build a ranch. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 73 ln. 22-p. 74 ln. 5). A friend suggested that the property was ideal for a golf course and residential development. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 74 ln. 12-p. 75 ln. 18). Mr. Chesrown was intrigued, but had no development experience and did not play golf, let alone know how to build a course. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 74 ln. 15-pg 76 ln. 9).

Mr. Chesrown recruited a team including: engineers to provide engineering services and guidance through the land use entitlement process, architectural and design experts, and construction professionals. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 76 ln. 10- ln. 24). Soon after, the Club at Black Rock ("Club") was born, complete with a championship golf course surrounded by beautiful homes with views of Lake Coeur d'Alene.

Initially, the Club was more successful than anticipated. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 80 ln. 13-17). Home lots sold ahead of projections and it appeared there would be a demand for substantially more. (*Id.*). To the north of the Club, Robert Samuel owned a ranch. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 92 ln. 9-23). With the perceived demand for additional home lots, Mr. Chesrown and Mr. Samuel partnered to build a second course (Black Rock North) that would be surrounded by additional homes on Mr. Samuel's property and property acquired by Mr. Chesrown. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 93 ln. 4-22). To proceed they formed BRN Development, Inc. ("BRN").

Mr. Chesrown employed Kyle Capps on the Club at Black Rock project and other developments that Mr. Chesrown's entities later pursued. Mr. Capps graduated from Colorado State University with a degree in landscape horticulture. (Tr. Vol. 3, p. 12 ln. 12-23). He had experience in landscape maintenance, golf course maintenance, and some golf course construction before coming to work with the Black Rock entities. (Tr. Vol. 3, p. 12 ln. 24-p. 13 ln. 20). He was initially hired as the golf course superintendent at the original Black Rock Development, but over time his duties expanded to include some project management on other property developments pursued by Mr. Chesrown. (Tr. Vol. 3, p. 15 ln. 3-p. 17 ln. 1).

Mr. Chesrown did not employ in-house engineers or land planners so, for the Club at Black Rock, he hired Taylor's competitor, Inland Northwest Consultants, Inc., to provide engineering and land planning services. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 77 ln. 23-p. 78 ln. 17). Recognizing the growing market in North Idaho, Taylor opened a satellite office in Coeur d'Alene and lobbied for Mr. Chesrown's work. Taylor hired Eric Shanley, an engineer, and Ron Pace, a principal at Taylor, represented to Mr. Capps that Mr. Shanley had a thorough understanding of all Kootenai County ordinances and land use requirements. (Tr. Vol 3, p. 28 ln. 9-p. 29 ln. 23).

Mr. Chesrown and Mr. Capps worked with Taylor on at least three projects after the Club at Black Rock and before the BRN Project: 1) the Ridge at SunUp Bay—a residential development in Kootenai County; 2) Legacy Ridge—a residential development in Liberty Lake, WA; and 3) Bellerive—a residential development in the City of Coeur d'Alene. (Tr. Vol. 3, p. 20 ln. 1-p. 24 ln. 5). On each project Taylor provided engineering and land planning guidance through the land use entitlement process. (*Id.*). Over the course of its relationship with Mr. Chesrown's entities, Taylor collected \$4.1 million in fees. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 90 ln. 10-13).

2. Taylor's role at the Black Rock North Project

In 2005, representatives from Taylor and BRN met to discuss Taylor's engagement for the Black Rock North Project. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 87 ln. 7-14). It was clear to Mr. Capps and Mr. Chesrown that Taylor would handle the Project's civil engineering and would guide BRN through the entitlement process consistent with the services Taylor provided on the previously cited developments. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 95 ln. 3-16; p. 99 ln. 19-p. 100 ln. 6; Tr. Vol. 3 p. 26 ln. 6-p. 28 ln. 8).

Throughout the Project, Taylor submitted budget proposals (Plaintiff Exhibit 4, 6), invoices, and correspondence. The undisputed evidence demonstrates that Taylor, on its letterhead, held itself out as performing "Civil Design" and "Land Planning." (Plaintiff Exhibit 29). Each of the budget proposals demonstrates that Taylor was providing "overall management of civil aspects" of the BRN Project including, without limitation, "attending various meetings through the design process with the Owner, governing agencies, consultants and other stakeholders." (Plaintiff Exhibit 4, 6). Additionally, Taylor's budgets showed that Taylor undertook "coordination with Kootenai County necessary to add the Preliminary Plat into the ongoing PUD process." (Plaintiff Exhibit 4 at p. 1521). Taylor also assumed responsibility for assuring that BRN's submittals would be in conformity with the applicable Kootenai County ordinance. (Plaintiff Exhibit 4 at p. 1521).

Consistent with its budget documents and "Land Planning" letter head, Taylor prepared outlines for meetings with government officials (Plaintiff Exhibit 13), met with those officials, and left those officials believing that Taylor was advising and guiding BRN through the land planning/entitlement process. (Tr. Vol. 3, p. 134 ln. 5-16; Defendant Exhibit UUU, Mussman

Perpetuation Deposition p. 40 ln. 22-41 ln. 2). When it came to technical assignments, including compiling documents or assuring compliance with ordinances, Taylor undertook those responsibilities. (Tr. Vol. 3, p. 33 ln. 16-p. 34 ln. 13; p. 36 ln. 24-p. 37 ln. 19). Moreover, when BRN had questions about the entitlement process, it directed those questions to Taylor. (Tr. Vol. 3, p. 37 ln. 7-10; Plaintiff Exhibit 76; Plaintiff Exhibit 203; Defendant Exhibit J). As the Trial Court found, contrary to Taylor's repeated assertions at trial that it performed no land use planning functions, it was clear that Taylor took on planning-related duties. (R. Vol. 7, p. 378). This conclusion was supported by Taylor's own billing summaries which repeatedly described land planning activities Taylor performed on the Project and charged for time performed by Taylor's Senior Land Planner. (e.g. Defendant's Exhibit B pp. 2-3, 9-10, 12-13, 17, 25, 33-34, 40-41, 53, 55-56, 59-60, 63-64, 76-77, 81, 245, 247, 254, 260, 421, 423, 427, 431, 433, 435, 437).

3. Critical Juncture: Late 2007-January 2008

By the end of 2007 the golf course was partially finished but BRN had not yet developed home lots to bring to market. At that time, BRN realized that the market was changing and the velocity of real estate sales was slowing (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 106 ln. 1-13). In late 2007, BRN's principals, Mr. Chesrown and Mr. Samuel, had numerous meetings about the Project's direction and whether the timing was right to move forward with home lot development. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 106 ln. 1-p. 107 ln. 19). After much discussion, Mr. Chesrown and Mr. Samuel agreed that the best option was to "mothball" the Project. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 108 ln. 4-23).

,6

Mr. Chesrown and Mr. Samuel knew that the value of the Project as it stood was in the land use entitlements (zone change, PUD). (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 109 ln. 1-9). Indeed, BRN spent millions of dollars navigating through the Kootenai County's processes to obtain a zone change and preliminary approvals for increased density to make residential development possible. As Mr. Chesrown put it, without the entitlements all they had was "a piece of farm ground with a half-built golf course on it." (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 109 ln. 21-25). Thus, in mothballing the Project, the goal was to do what was necessary to vest the PUD entitlement so future development would be possible when the market became ripe for it. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 108 ln. 7-p. 110 ln. 2).

In the same time frame that Mr. Chesrown and Mr. Samuel were considering the Project's future, they received an email string from Mr. Ide, Taylor's senior land planner. (Plaintiff Exhibit 200). That email stated:

I'll verify with Planning, but the PUD overlay typically does not get implemented or show up in the zoning books until a final plat is recorded. Then it's on a phase-byphase basis. This is because the PUD overlay is conditional. Only when the conditions of the PUD are met will be the PUD be approved.

(Plaintiff Exhibit 200, Bates TAY029857)(emphasis added). There was no testimony that Mr. Ide actually verified this opinion. Regardless, Mr. Ide's opinion was fundamentally wrong and, as further detailed below, formed the basis for unnecessary development costs of more than \$7 million.

Having decided to mothball the Project, Mr. Chesrown emailed his team on January 14, 2008 and set a meeting. (Plaintiff Exhibit 54). Mr. Chesrown made the purpose of the meeting clear:

For the Thursday meeting @ 10:30 with ACI we also need Taylor there. I am confused as usual and want to make sure everyone understands what we need and when we need it with cash flow considerations as the driving force. We also need to discuss with everyone the platting plan in detail....

(Plaintiff Exhibit 54)(emphasis added).

There is no dispute about what was discussed at the meeting. As the Trial Court found:

Of particular concern to Chesrown was to vest the PUD in hopes that if the market improved the entitlements would be secure and the project could continue at some future time.

(R. Vol. 7, p. 3784, Decision on Court Trial).

At trial, Taylor's Senior Land Planner, Frank Ide, spelled out the proper analysis for

Taylor at this critical juncture. First, it was incumbent on Taylor to understand BRN's goal. (Tr.

Vol. 5, p. 140 ln. 13-18). Second, based on that goal, Taylor should have determined the status

of the land use entitlements. (Tr. Vol. 5, p. 140 ln. 19-22). And finally, Taylor had to determine

what BRN's entitlement alternatives were for achieving its goal. (Tr. Vol. 5, p. 140 ln. 23-p. 141

In. 5). Unfortunately, Taylor did not undertake this analysis.

Mr. Pace attended the critical January 14, 2008 meeting on Taylor's behalf. At trial, Mr. Pace confirmed that he understood the purpose of the meeting was to determine how to spend the minimum possible on the Project given the changing market and BRN's unexpected lack of financing. (Tr. Vol 2, p. 103 ln. 25-p. 104 ln. 8). As the Trial Court found, "At the conclusion of the meeting, BRN had a clear impression that it was necessary to record a final plat." (R. Vol. 7, p. 3784)(emphasis added).

However, at trial, all sides agreed that the PUD was, in fact, already vested as of January 2008 and recording a final plat was not necessary. As the Trial Court found, the PUD was vested based on preliminary approval and BRN's substantial construction. (R. Vol. 7, p. 3785, Decision on Court Trial). In other words, with the proper advice, at the time of the critical January 14, 2008 meeting, BRN could have completely shut the Project down without spending another dime on construction and infrastructure. As Mr. Capps, Mr. Chesrown and Mr. Samuel all confirmed, had they known the PUD was vested in January 2008, BRN would have stopped all construction and mothballed the Project immediately. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 108 ln. 20-23; Tr. Vol. 3, p. 53 ln. 12-19; Tr. Vol. 5, p. 89 ln. 14-18). Instead, as the Trial Court found, "[d]uring the January 2008 meeting, Taylor left BRN with the impression that the additional work was needed to vest the PUD." (R. Vol. 7, p. 3785, Decision on Court Trial) (emphasis added).

That additional work amounted to \$7,112,046.64 towards completion of the infrastructure that was necessary² before BRN could record the Phase I final plat of 56 lots (also known as the "Panhandle plat"). (Plaintiff Exhibit 86, 94; Tr. Vol. 3 p. 87 ln. 6-13). Indeed, Given BRN's stated goal to mothball the project as of January 2008, all sides agree that BRN's subsequent expenditure of more than \$7 million was unnecessary. In fact, the completed infrastructure detracts from the Project's overall value because it removed flexibility to alter lot sizes, densities, and structure types to match future market demands. (Tr. Vol. 3 p. 48 ln. 22-p. 49 ln. 4).

² As Taylor's expert, Sandra Young confirmed, to record the Panhandle plat, BRN had to complete the infrastructure within the plat, or obtain a bond for the work. (Tr. Vol. Supp. p. 109 ln. 16-23). Given the market, bonding was not a realistic possibility. (Tr. Vol. 1 p. 120 ln. 22-p. 123 ln. 8; Tr. Vol. 1 p. 126 ln. 8-19).

Even if going to final plat had been necessary (it was not), Taylor also failed to recognize that BRN could have finalized and completed a smaller four (4) lot plat ("Phase II") that was nearly complete by the critical January 2008 meeting.³ Taylor's own witnesses confirmed that BRN could have completed and filed the Phase II plat by renaming it as Phase I, all for less than \$35,000.00 and possibly as low as \$24,000.00. (Tr. Vol. Supp. 45 ln. 17- p.46 ln. 10) Of course, this advice would also have saved BRN more than \$7 million. However, there was little incentive for Taylor to provide the correct advice as completing the Phase II plat or ceasing all work entirely would have eliminated considerable billings for itself in a rapidly declining economic time.

4. Spring 2009

By spring 2009, BRN had incurred over \$7 million in construction costs that it undertook to record a plat under the mistaken advice that it was necessary to vest the PUD. During this time, BRN fell behind in its payments to Taylor by about \$150,000.00. Mr. Chesrown and Mr. Pace discussed Taylor's outstanding balance, and the amount of additional work Taylor would need to perform to finalize the final plat before the County's recording deadline of May 29, 2009. (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 116 ln. 2-p. 117 ln. 4). Mr. Chesrown testified that in light of the urgency Taylor expressed about the May 29, 2009 deadline, he and Mr. Pace reached an agreement. Mr. Chesrown promised to personally pay the approximately \$7,000.00 it would take for Taylor to finish up the work necessary to record the Panhandle Plat (believing Taylor's representations that

³ Not only did Taylor fail to spot the issue that the Phase II plat could have been renamed and recorded first with minimal expenditure, Ron Pace affirmatively advised that the Panhandle plat had to be recorded first. (Plaintiff Exhibit 76).

this was necessary to vest the PUD), and that he and his partners and investors would subsequently work to pay Taylor's remaining \$150,000.00 balance. (*Id.*).

Taylor did not abide by this agreement. Having created a false sense of urgency about the May 29, 2009 recording deadline, Taylor believed that it was in a position of strength to collect the \$150,000.00 BRN owed Taylor. To that end, Taylor enlisted the services of attorney William Hyslop. Through Mr. Hyslop, Taylor accomplished two things: 1) all interested parties including American Bank, BRN, Taylor, and the various contractors, were put in irreconcilable conflict with one another; and 2) Taylor confirmed its "considered opinion" that BRN had to record the Panhandle Plat in order to vest the PUD and protect that valuable entitlement.

Those accomplishments started with a squeeze play. With \$150,000 outstanding, Mr. Pace emailed Mr. Hyslop: **"Do you see a problem with us just letting the amended lien submittal and bank foreclosure process play out until the May plat deadline approaches and see if Black Rock pays us? I would like to hold off on extensive research effort on your part until the next card is dealt by either Black Rock or the Bank...**" (Plaintiff Ex. 7 (7.052)) (emphasis added).

As May 29, 2009 approached, Taylor clearly understood that vesting the PUD also had considerable value to American Bank who held a lien of approximately \$15 million. Thus, Taylor directed Mr. Hyslop to send a demand letter to American Bank, BRN, and Mr. Samuel stating, in pertinent part:

.... if the final subdivision approval is not completed and recorded by May 29, 2009, the PUD and preliminary plat approval will expire, the PUD and

plat will not vest in the recorded ownership to the real property involved, and the property will revert to its prior zoning and density.

. . . .

The preliminary plat approval allows the use of the property and the density of use outlined on the attached map. If the preliminary plat expires on May 29, 2009, the use and the density of use will revert back to that which existed prior to preliminary approval.

. . . .

If the preliminary subdivision is not completed and recorded by May 29, 2009, this flexibility to assign higher density to certain areas with less density to others will be lost and the property will not be able to be developed as presently shown.

Taylor Engineering, Inc. has been very involved with the survey, design, and preliminary approval process for this property since 2005. It has obviously invested a great deal of work product and holds a great deal of knowledge and expertise regarding this property. Once paid the amount set forth below, Taylor Engineering, Inc., is prepared to complete the necessary documents, request signatures from Kootenai County.... and deliver the documents to whoever pays the amount owed.

(Plaintiff Exhibit 2)(emphasis added).

Mr. Hyslop followed the May 18, 2009 letter with several communications with

American Bank's counsel, Nancy Isserlis, and reiterated by email on May 20, 2009 that:

"[t]he May 29, 2009 recording deadline is for recording the documents to vest the preliminary plat and PUD for the ENTIRE property....

There is great value to an owner to vest the PUD and plat.... that new owner is in a much stronger position to at least have the vested rights that will be achieved with the May 29, 2009 recording rather than having lost those rights and having to start over...

. . . .

Starting over carries great uncertainty, cost, and time, with no certainty whether any development will be approved at all....

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