UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-17-2014

American Bank v. BRN Development, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40625

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

The contention that the special relationship exception applies because of Taylor's alleged provision of land use planning services is legally flawed because such services are well beyond the extremely narrow limits of the special relationship exception as articulated by the Idaho Supreme Court. In *Aardema*, the Idaho Supreme Court stated that a special relationship requires a professional or quasi-professional performing personal services. *Id.* The extremely narrow boundaries of the special relationship exception must be considered in determining whether a professional or quasi-professional has performed personal services for purposes of the special relationship exception. The Idaho Court of Appeals' opinion in *Nelson* is instructive in this regard wherein the Court of Appeals stated that "[t]he 'special relationship' exception generally pertains to claims for personal services provided by professionals, such as physicians, attorneys,

architects, engineers, and insurance agents." Nelson v. Anderson Lumber Co., 140 Idaho 702, 710, 99 P.3d 1092, 1100 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Eliopulos v. Knox, 123 Idaho 400, 408, 848 P.2d 984, 992 (Ct. App. 1992)). The Court of Appeals decision in Nelson makes clear that what is contemplated in this first special relationship situation is a professional or quasi-professional, such as a physician, attorney, architect, engineer or insurance agent, performing personal services within the professional or quasi-professional's profession. What is not reasonably contemplated in this first situation is a professional, such as a physician, performing nonprofessional services, such as house painting. Accordingly, any land use planning work which BRN argues was performed by Taylor does not fall within this first special relationship situation because land use planners and those individuals offering entitlement advice cannot be placed in the same category as physicians, attorneys, architects, engineers, and insurance agents because land use planners do not have to satisfy any licensing, registration, regulatory, or minimum educational requirements as do physicians, attorneys, architects, engineers, and insurance agents and no regulatory body oversees the activities of land use planners. Tr. Vol. III, p. 154, L. 3 - p. 155, L. 5; Tr. Vol. IV, p. 57, LL. 11 - 18; Tr. Vol. V, p. 117, LL. 10 - 18 and p. 150, LL. 3 - 10; Supp. Tr. p. 26, L. 25 - p. 27, L. 22.

2. <u>Taylor Did Not Hold Itself Out And Knowingly Induce Reliance By BRN</u> On Its Performance Of Land Use Planning Services.

The efforts to induce reliance on a specialized function required by Idaho courts to establish the special relationship exception are detailed above. Here, Taylor presented evidence at trial establishing that it did not hold itself out to BRN or any party involved in the Black Rock

North Project as specializing in land use planning as part of any effort to knowingly induce BRN to rely upon Taylor for the provision of land use planning services. Tr. Vol. III, p. 147, LL. 22 -25, and p. 148, LL. 1 - 9; Supp. Tr. p. 210, LL. 11 - 14. Marshall Chesrown significantly testified that he did not view Taylor's internet website before hiring Taylor for the Black Rock North project. Tr. Vol. III, p. 144, LL. 13 - 23. Moreover, any contention that Taylor opening an office in Coeur d'Alene staffed with professional engineer Eric Shanley does not reveal an effort to induce BRN to rely upon Taylor's provision of land use planning services because Eric Shanley is professional engineer who does not do land use planning. Tr. Vol. II, p. 151, L. 21 p. 152, L. 9 and p. 152, LL. 13 - 17. In addition, there were multiple entities and individuals offering land use planning services in Kootenai County, Idaho which renders this matter factually distinguishable from *Duffin* in which the Idaho Crop Improvement Association was the only entity in Idaho authorized to certify seed potatoes. Tr. Vol. III, p. 129, L. 5 - p. 130, L. 15; Supp. Tr. p. 12, LL. 3 - 11 and p. 27, L. 23 - p. 28, L. 11. Taylor therefore did not hold itself out and knowingly induce BRN to rely upon Taylor's provision of specialized land use planning services.

3. <u>It Would Be Inequitable To Determine A Special Relationship Existed</u> <u>Given The Land Use Planning Experience of BRN Representatives And</u> <u>Counsel And Given BRN's Failure To Pay Taylor's Invoices.</u>

A special relationship exists only where the relationship between the parties is such that it would be equitable to impose a duty to prevent economic loss to another. *Aardema*, 147 Idaho at 792, 215 P.3d at 512 (citing *Duffin*, 126 Idaho at 1008, 895 P.2d at 1201. Here, it would be inequitable to find that a special relationship existed between Taylor and BRN with respect to the

alleged provision of land use planning services to BRN where representatives of BRN and BRN's legal counsel had significant land use planning experience in Kootenai County. For example, Marshall Chesrown of BRN had been involved in the development of Black Rock, Bellerive, River's Edge, the Ridge at Sunup Bay, several of which were PUD projects like the Black Rock North project. Tr. Vol. I, p. 80, L. 18 - p. 81, L. 16 and p. 144, L. 24 - p. 145, L. 20. Similarly, Kyle Capps, BRN's vice president of site development and project manager, was involved in prior Kootenai County projects such as Black Rock, Bellerive, River's Edge, and the Ridge at Sunup Bay. Tr. Vol. III, p. 16, L. 20 - p. 17, L. 1 and p. 88, LL. 8 - 24. In addition, one of BRN's attorneys, Kathryn McKinley, performed land use planning related work on the Black Rock North project and had significant land use experience in Kootenai County as a result of her work on the Ridge at Sunup Bay, the Ridge at Cougar Bay, the Estates at Black Rock Bay, Black Rock and Bellerive. Tr. Vol. IV, p. 19, LL. 4 - 11, p. 20, L. 16 - p. 21, L. 1. Marshall Chesrown in fact testified that he relied upon Kathryn McKinley to provide him with advice on the legal status of the entitlements for the Black Rock North project. Tr. Vol. I, p. 103, LL. 2 - 16. BRN also retained attorney John Layman and worked with multiple attorneys at the Layman Law Firm. Tr. Vol. I, p. 101, LL. 13 - 19, p. 145, L. 24 - p. 149, L. 18; Tr. Vol. IV, p. 75, L. 2 - p. 78, L. 11, p. 79, L. 6 - p. 88, L. 21, p. 89, L. 15 - p. 94, L. 2, p. 105, L. 18 - p. 106, L. 19, p. 155, L. 18 - p. 156, L. 10; Defendant's Exhibit TT, pp. 1-143. The billing statements from the Layman Law Firm reveal significant land use planning related work such as research into the Kootenai County PUD and Subdivision Ordinance as well as resolution of issues involving various Kootenai County agencies which commented on BRN's land use applications. The following are representative billing statement entries by attorneys with the Layman Law Firm evidencing work on land use related topics during only the first six months of the Layman Law Firm's work on the Black Rock North project:

9/21/05	Perform research re PUD Application and process in Kootenai County
9/23/05	Begin researching Idaho Subdivision Ordinance and Public Hearing Rules to develop timeline of requirements and steps for completing approval of development
9/27/05	Organize and review elements for elements for PUD process
10/17/05	Research Kootenai County Ordinances re Black Rock North Rezoning Application
10/18/05	Continue to research rezoning and other ordinances for Kootenai County
10/19/05	Continue to research Kootenai County Ordinance re granting a zone change request
10/24/05	Research comprehensive plan on Kootenai County website
10/26/05	Review CUP application for gravel pit
10/27/05	Perform legal research re statutes and ordinances referred to in staff report
11/2/05	Review Kootenai County staff reports, comprehensive plan
11/17/05	Review correspondence re hearing examiner recommendation
11/22/05	Review scheduling and timing of hearings
11/23/05	Review Kootenai County Hearing Examiner's Report for Black Rock North
11/29/05	Left detailed message with Mark Mussman re Conditional Use Permit exhibits. Contact Kootenai County Planning Department to confirm dates of Board deliberations for rezoning matter

- 11/30/05 Review correspondence re Black Rock Pit IDL Application...
- 12/5/05 Left detailed message with Mark Mussman re submittals for Black Rock Mine CUP
- 12/8/05 Telephone conference with Mark Mussman re CUP exhibits
- 12/21/05 Review hearing examiner report for rezone request
- 12/30/05 ... Telephone call to Mark Mussman re CUP hearing
- 1/5/06 Attend meeting with Roger Nelson, Kyle Capps, and Joe Hassell to review CUP presentation and issues. Review rezoning presentation. Attend and present rezoning hearing. Attend CUP hearing
- 2/8/06 Review Worley Highway District letter and Traffic Impact Analysis...
- 2/15/06 Telephone conference with Jan Gera of Kootenai County Building and Planning re Kirk-Hughes staff report. Review staff report by Jan Gera
- 2/16/06 Review and revise strategy for Worley Highway District issue.
- 2/27/06 Meeting with Roger Nelson, George Schillinger, Kyle Capps and Ron Pace planning for Worley Highway District meeting. Review materials and prepare presentation for meeting. Attend meeting. Attend Kootenai County Comprehensive Plan Meeting
- 2/28/06 Review Idaho statutes and regulations re: a highway district's authority to require developers to improve roadways
- 3/6/06 Review timing for updating agency submissions. Review strategy and correspondence for EMS and Worley Highway District
- 3/10/06 Review correspondence from Kootenai County EMS re ability to provide emergency services to Black Rock North. Review correspondence from Forest Shores Habitat Specialists, Department of the Army and IDL. Continue to review and revise letter from Kyle Capps to Kootenai County EMS

Defendants Exhibit TT, pp. 1-17. The collective experience of BRN's representatives and its several attorneys performing work on BRN's land use planning applications would make it inequitable to determine that a special relationship also existed between Taylor and BRN with respect to Taylor's alleged provision of land use planning to BRN.

Furthermore, BRN's unclean hands resulting from BRN's failure to pay Taylor the sum of \$153,448.77 should bar the equitable application of the special relationship exception as it would be inequitable to impose a duty upon Taylor to prevent alleged economic loss to BRN where BRN had not paid Taylor for the work Taylor performed on Black Rock North. R. Vol. III, pp. 1623-1627; see Aardema, 147 Idaho at 792, 215 P. 3d at 512 (citing Duffin, 126 Idaho at 1008, 895 P. 2d at 1201). The Idaho Supreme Court has determined that the doctrine of unclean hands allows a court to deny equitable relief to a litigant on the ground that his conduct has been inequitable, unfair, and dishonest, or fraudulent and deceitful as to the controversy at issue. Campbell v. Kildew, 141 Idaho 640, 648, 115 P. 3d 731, 739 (2005). In determining whether the doctrine of unclean hands applies, a court has discretion to evaluate the relative conduct of both parties and to determine whether the conduct of the party seeking equitable remedy should, in light of all the circumstances, preclude the relief. Sword v. Sweet, 140 Idaho 242, 251, 92 P. 3d 492, 501 (2004). Considering the equities in this matter, it would be inequitable to apply the special relationship exception to address BRN's alleged economic loss where BRN failed to pay Taylor \$153,448.77. The District Court's decision that the economic loss rule bars BRN's professional negligence claim and that the special relationship exception does not apply should therefore be affirmed.

III. The District Court Did Not Err In Finding No Applicable Statutory Duty Relating To Land Use Planning Services Because Taylor Did Not Agree To Provide Land Use Planning Services And Such Services Are Not Subject To Any Statutory Duty.

The Idaho Supreme Court has stated that "if a cause of action for breach of a duty based on a contractual promise could also be maintained without the contract by virtue of a statutory or common law duty, then the action is founded upon tort, not contract. Sumpter v. Holland Realty, Inc., 140 Idaho 349, 354, 93 P.3d 680, 685 (2004). Here, there can be no breach of a duty based upon an alleged contractual promise by Taylor to provide land use planning services because, as detailed above, (1) BRN did not ask Taylor to provide land use planning work; (2) Taylor did not agree to perform land use planning services; (3) Taylor did not perform any land use planning work; and (4) Taylor did not bill BRN for land use planning work. Second, there is no statutory or common law duty requiring Taylor to provide land use planning services or to satisfy a particular standard of care in doing so. BRN argues that the statutory source of Taylor's duty is the Idaho Rules of Professional Responsibility for professional engineers and that such rules apply because the statutory definition of engineering includes "planning." BRN App. Br., p. 34. "Planning" in the Idaho statutory definition of professional engineering does not contemplate land use planning. The following is the relevant portion of the Idaho statutory definition of professional engineering:

> "Professional engineering" and "practice of professional engineering" mean any service or creative work offered to or performed for the public for any project physically located in this state, such as consultation, investigation, evaluation, planning, designing, teaching upper division engineering design subjects, and responsible charge of observation of construction in connection with any public or private utilities, structures,

buildings, machines, equipment, processes, works or projects or to certify elevation information, wherein the public welfare or the safeguarding of life, health, or property is concerned or involved, when such service requires the application of engineering principles and data . . .

I.C. § 54-1202(10) (emphasis added). No statutory duty is therefore raised in a circumstance involving work, such as land use planning, which does not require application of engineering principles and data. This point is entirely consistent with BRN's engineer expert witness, Joe Hassell, who testified that the alleged representation by Taylor that a final plat had to be recorded to vest the PUD entitlement did not constitute engineering work subject to the Idaho Rules of Professional Responsibility. Supp. Tr., p. 290:13-22. Taylor's engineer expert witness similarly testified that the standard of care applicable to engineers in Idaho applies only when the engineer is performing engineering tasks. Supp. Tr., p. 152:17 - 154:8. The Idaho Rules of Professional Responsibility for engineers therefore do not supply a statutory or common law source of duty where non-engineering work is alleged such as the purported land use planning statement by Taylor that a final plat had to be recorded to vest the PUD approval. BRN has therefore failed to satisfy the duty element of its professional negligence claim. BRN's failure to establish a statutory or common law source of duty affords an alternative basis to affirm the District Court's decision, in addition to the economic loss rule which bars the professional negligence claim.

BRN relies upon *Stephen v. Sallaz & Gatewod, Chtd*, 150 Idaho 521, 248 P.2d 1256 (2011) to apparently contend that services a professional such as an attorney provides which do not require a professional license are subject to one standard of care. BRN supports the

contention by pointing out that the economic loss rule defense was not raised in *Stephen* where the attorney purportedly failed to value property in a divorce, a task not requiring a bar license. BRN's reliance on *Stephen* is misplaced as the district court's attorney malpractice decision and the Idaho Supreme Court's affirmation of that decision was based upon the attorney's failure to "investigate, inform and advise" his client regarding the value of property subject to a divorce where the client's ex-spouse had presented a property value significantly higher than the client's understanding of value. *Stephen*, 150 Idaho at 525-527, 248 P.2d at 1260-1262. The lack of an economic loss rule defense in *Stephen* does not support BRN's contention that a singular standard of care should apply in this matter to both engineering and non-engineering work such as land use planning.

IV. <u>The District Court Did Not Fail To Enter Adequate Findings Of Fact And Conclusions of Law</u>.

A court sitting as the trier of fact is charged with the duty of preparing findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of the decision reached. I.R.C.P. 52(a); *Pope v. Intermountain Gas Co.*, 103 Idaho 217, 225, 646 P.2d 988, 996 (1982). The purpose for this requirement is to afford the appellate court a clear understanding of the basis of the trial court's decision, so that it might be determined whether the trial court applied the proper law to the appropriate facts in reaching its ultimate judgment in the case. *Perry Plumbing Co. v. Schuler*, 96 Idaho 494, 497, 531 P.2d 584, 585 (1975). The absence of findings and conclusions may be disregarded by the appellate court only where the record is clear, and yields an obvious answer to the relevant question. *Id*.

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